FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/27/2020 2:18 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court №. 98110-8

Court of Appeals №. 51941-1-II

SUPREME COURT APPEAL FROM THE

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LINDA AMES, AN INDIVIDUAL

APPELLANT

V.

HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR WELLS FARGO ASSET SECURITIES CORPORATION, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 2006-AR16

RESPONDENT

APPELLANT'S BRIEF TO SUPREME COURT

LINDA AMES APPELLANT 11920 NW 35TH AVENUE VANCOUVER WA 98685 TEL: (360) 931-1797

E-mail: lindalouames@comcast.net Appellant Pro Se

I. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this appeal, Linda Ames, Plaintiff / Appellant pro-se, seeks reversal of the Order of the Superior Court from a series of orders, denying entry of default, and default judgment, denying multiple motions to compel discovery, appealing the order granting summary judgment in favor of HSBC acting as Trustee for Wells Fargo and appealing the Court's order denying Plaintiff's motion to amend the complaint to include Wells Fargo after discovering that Wells admitted in their phone logs cancelling her loan modification because the investor / lender never approved of the amount she was paying for more than a year.

Victimized like so many other home owners, Linda Ames, after paying for a year on her loan modification, had her payments increase inexplicably by Wells Fargo. They told her that the modification they promised was permanent was only temporary. They told her to apply for another modification but did not disclose that the reason for their breach was that the amount they had her paying was not acceptable to the investor / Lender. After following Wells' servicers' instructions, they ultimately denied her loan modification. After making multiple demands for production of documents, the Defendant produced only some of the records they were ordered to produce. One set that was produced included call logs where Wells admitted to not only instructing her to stop making payments, but also revealed that the real motive behind the servicer telling Ames to stop making her payments was because the investor (Lender) never agreed to the terms of the loan modification offered to and accepted by Ames in the first instance.

After doing all she could to save her home, Wells purported to hold a nonjudicial foreclosure sale. Ames was present at the time and place designated for the sale, and was told that it was cancelled where she then had to rush off to attend an eviction proceeding they also scheduled at the same time as the sale, which was also cancelled.

What's worse, is that a few days later, she received notification that her home was sold at that auction, but the paperwork shows that the sale occurred in California, not on the courthouse steps. There was no sale, but a transfer, and then the property was sold for full market value to a third party buyer, so the Appellee maximized the theft of the Appellant's equity from her property.

A review of the public records further reveals new evidence that has arisen since the filing of the complaint. The Notice of Appeal was filed on March 8th, 2018. However, on August 1, 2018, a settlement was entered into between the United States, acting through the United States Department of Justice ("Department of Justice"), and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. which included conduct related to the subject Defendant Trust.

"The United States contends that it has certain civil claims against Wells Fargo specified in Paragraph 3 of the Terms and Conditions section below, including those under the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 ("FIRREA"), 12 U.S.C. § 1833a. The United States contends that these civil claims are predicated on Wells Fargo's violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (mail fraud), 18 U.S.C. § 1343 (wire fraud), 18 U.S.C. § 1014 (false statements to financial institutions), and 18 U.S.C. § 1344 (financial institutions fraud). Ibid. Pg. 2. "3. Releases by the United States. Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 4 ("Excluded Claims") and conditioned upon Wells Fargo's full payment of the Settlement Amount, the United States fully and finally releases Wells Fargo, each of its current and former subsidiaries and affiliated entities, and each of their respective successors and assigns (collectively, the "Released Entities"), from any civil claim the United States has against the Released Entities for the Covered Conduct arising under FIRREA, 12

U.S.C. § 1833a; the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729, et seq.; the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3801, et seq.; the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961, et seq.; the Injunctions Against Fraud Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1345; common law theories of negligence, gross negligence, payment by mistake, unjust enrichment, money had and received, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, misrepresentation, deceit, fraud, and aiding and abetting any of the foregoing; or that the Civil Division of the Department of Justice has actual and present authority to assert and compromise pursuant to 28 C.F.R. § 0.45(d). 4. Excluded Claims. Notwithstanding the releases in Paragraph 3 of this Agreement, or any other term(s) of this Agreement, the following claims are specifically reserved and not released by this Agreement: a. Any conduct other than the Covered Conduct; b. Any criminal liability; c. Any liability of any individual; ..." *Ibid.* FN 1.

Since this settlement occurred after the complaint was filed the Appellant has new and additional grounds for her complaint. The government got the Defendant to settle on the grounds that the Defendant had committed illegal acts which are identical to those complained of by Ames. Defendant had unclean hands when it foreclosed against Ames, and since non-judicial foreclosure is an equitable action, the unclean hands was a bar to any recovery. What's worse, is that multiple civil actions were excluded in the settlement itself so that they may be permitted to proceed, whereas the Plaintiff / Appellant is being deprived of her causes of action.

Additionally, since the filing of the action, a class action lawsuit was just discovered listing this trust. *IN RE WELLS FARGO MORTGAGEBACKED CERTIFICATES LITIGATION*, Civil Action No. 09-cv-01376-SI, Amended Consolidated Class Action Complaint For Viol. Of §§ 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 Of The Securities Act of 1933. See *Ibid*, ¶ 43. That class action included relief sought by the subject investors in the subject trust. The settlement was distributed under that class action, which means that at the time the Defendant foreclosed on the Plaintiff,

they had already recovered their money for the subject mortgage, or at a minimum, some portion of it, which was never credited to the Plaintiff.

That not only did the Defendant have unclean hands, but the Lender was ALREADY PAID for some or all of the subject mortgage when it claims it sold the Plaintiff's property at an auction that never occurred. The settlement indicates that the Public Employees' Retirement System of Mississippi was the investor / "Lender" in this action and recovered their investment before taking the Plaintiff's property. At a minimum, they have been unjustly enriched at the Plaintiff's expense.

"The Settlement Fund consists of \$125 million plus interest earned. Based on the total initial face dollar value of the Certificates as stated in the prospectus supplements (without subtracting the principal paydowns received on the Certificates), and assuming all purchasers of the initially offered certificates elect to participate, the estimated average distribution is \$2.70 per \$1,000 in initial certificate value of the Wells Fargo Certificates. Class Members may recover more or less than this amount depending on, among other factors, when their certificates were purchased or sold, the amount of principal that has been repaid, the value of the certificates on the applicable Date of First Suit as indicated in the attached Table A, the number of Class Members who timely file Claims, and the Plan of Allocation, as more fully described below in this Notice. In addition, the actual recovery of Class Members may be further reduced by the payment of fees and costs from the Settlement Fund."

This settlement occurred after the Defendant claimed to have acquired the mortgage into the closed trust thereby voiding the subject mortgage.

The Trust was **closed** on **September 22nd**, **2006** and the assignment of mortgage was **December 6th**, **2011** pursuant to the recorded assignment, Document 4813726, recorded in the official records of Clark County, Washington, Exhibit 3 attached to the complaint.

There were other defects in the sales process. For example, the public records prove that the Trustee was not lawfully appointed by Wells Fargo, because

Wells Fargo had already assigned away their right title and interest at the time they claim they appointed the Trustee. Defendant Appellee also admitted that Leisa Jefferson was not authorized to execute the documents in favor of Wells because she was an employee of Wells and falsely held herself out to be the authorized signator of the assignor, but it was a defunct entity at the time and not licensed to do business in the state.

The sale was cancelled and the sale did not transpire on the Courthouse steps. In fact, the Trustee was not even licensed to do business in the State at the time of the purported sale to the Defendant. Because the Defendant / Appellee, trust is not a registered trust and not licensed to do business in this state, it (CP – 2) had no standing to foreclose on the Plaintiff or seek any affirmative relief. It is barred from collecting any money from the Plaintiff / Appellant. That, in and of itself, was grounds to deny the opposition and hold them to answer. RCW 23.95.505¹.

Furthermore, the Defendant Trust was not licensed to do business in this State and the trust was closed at the time it claims to have acquired the interest in the Plaintiff's home. The identity of the Lender has and was at all relevant times concealed from the Plaintiff until the foreclosure.

The foreclosure came about in the first place because Wells instructed Plaintiff to default in her payments so she could get a loan modification. Nothing that transpired against the Plaintiff was legal, and Defendant, knowing that, failed and refused to respond to the propounded discovery, all with the hopes of

¹ RCW 23.95.505; 5.35.020 Business license required; Ord. O-12-503 § 1

preventing the Court from seeing the depth of their deception. During the lower court case, the Plaintiff / Appellant brought Six Motions to Compel because the discovery sought directly related to the issues listed herein, and the Appellant never received full responses. In fact, the Appellant obtained an order granting her request requiring them to respond by February 28th, 2017 and Appellant was still waiting by the time the motion for Summary Judgment was granted. Defendant violated the discovery order and went unpunished.

Defendant / Appellees' were evasive, non-responsive and protecting the individuals who executed and recorded false documents in the official records. Declaration of Linda Ames, Paragraph 74. The sale never happened as the Plaintiff herself and her father were present at the time and place designated, so her father could bid and buy the property, and they were told the sale was cancelled. The recorded documents thereafter show that the "sale" happened a few days later in California, where the recorded documents were actually notarized and executed. There was no auction. There was no sale, and the Trustee was not even lawfully appointed to hold a sale as Wells Fargo was already no longer the holder or owner of the note and mortgage when the substitute trustee was appointed. Declaration of Linda Ames, Paragraph 85. Plaintiff has filed an action for declaratory, monetary relief and other relief. Plaintiff has filed her SIXTH motion to compel after the Defendant still refuses to answer the Request for Admissions without objection; refuses to respond to the Interrogatories without objection and have them signed under oath; and refused to identify which documents it did produce apply to which request. The court has already found that the initial responses were wholly evasive and incomplete, the Court ordered the

Defendant to respond to the Request for Admissions, Request number 7, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 23, 24, 25, 27, 29 and 30 without objection, and the Court overruled the objections; Defendant was ordered to forthwith produce all documents in their possession, custody or control in response to Defendant's Requests 1-48, inclusive without objection; the Defendant was ordered to respond fully to the interrogatories with all knowledge and information in their possession, custody or control in response to Defendant's Requests 1-43, inclusive without objection; and the Defendant was ordered to produce a true and correct copy of the original authentic note that bears the initials on each page of the Plaintiff and her authentic, original signature, on the back page. The court imposed a deadline of February 28th, 2017 giving the Defendants 30 days to respond. More than a year and half passed since the discovery was propounded, and more eight months beyond the deadline imposed by the last order of the court granting the requests before the Defendant filed their motion for summary judgment to avoid having to respond to the discovery. The unexplained failure to furnish complete and meaningful answers to these material interrogatories in the face of the court's order impels a conclusion that the refusal was willful. Instead of properly imposing sanctions, Rhinehart v. Seattle Times, 754 P. 2d 1243 - Wash: Court of Appeals, 1st Div. 1988, the lower court granted the motion for summary judgment.

DEFENDANT's purported predecessor in interest previously committed wrongful acts, in that they previously attempted to foreclose on the Plaintiff, LINDA AMES in a non-judicial foreclosure proceeding over a Mortgage on this property at 10810 NW 13th Place, VANCOUVER WA 98685 with SIERRA PACIFICA MORTGAGE CO. INC., recorded a mortgage (Exhibit "2") on the

property Document 4148891, recorded on April 6th, 2006, in the official records of this County. (CP – 7-8). On December 8th, 2011, there was an ASSIGNMENT OF DEED OF TRUST RECORDED BY WELLS FARGO HOME MORTGAGE, listing SIERRA PACIFIC MORTGAGE CO INC as the Grantor and HSBC BANK USA NA, as the Trustee, Document 4813726, Exhibit 3. On March 26, 2012, AFTER WELLS FARGO had already recorded the assignment of Deed of Trust, as set forth above, they then recorded an appointment of Trustee to Quality Loan Service Corp. of Washington, Document 4841188; and as a result of the fact that WELLS FARGO no longer had any right to do so, the appointment of Trustee was void and unlawful.

Her motion to amend was denied, even though she had multiple motions to compel pending; discovery had not been completed, and all because the lower court believed that the complaint was barred by the Statute of Limitations, however, the facts show that all the relevant entities were barred from doing business in this state, and absent from the state, therefore any relevant statute of limitations is inapplicable due to their absence from the jurisdiction. The entire sale was replete with defects, including the fact that after Wells Fargo had already assigned the void mortgage into a closed trust, they then appointed the trustee who held the sale, meaning that the trustee was never validly appointed. The auction was cancelled and the transfer occurred in California.

Finally, the statute of limitations was tolled in the instant case. A review of the public records shows that HSBC BANK USA terminated their status in this state and became inactive in 08/10/2004. https://ccfs.sos.wa.gov/#/BusinessSearch/BusinessInformation. When HSBC was

registered here, they registered as a Foreign Entity whose jurisdiction was New York. Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR16 is not a registered trust in this state at all. See https://ccfs.sos.wa.gov/#/BusinessSearch - No Value Found.) As a result of their absence, Defendants / Appellees claims of statute of limitations are improper as the statute was tolled.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

POINT ONE

THE COMPLETE ABSENCE FROM THE JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT FROM THE OUTSET OF THE ASSIGNMENT IN 2011 ENTITLES THE PLAINTIFF TO CLAIM THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS TOLLED AT ALL TIMES RELEVANT TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

POINT TWO

THE DEFENDANT WAS PAID IN FULL OR PARTIALLY PAID AS A RESULT OF THE CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT AND OTHER SETTLEMENTS BETWEEN THE INVESTORS AND SERVICERS AND ORIGINATORS SUCH THAT THE DEFENDANT DOUBLE RECOVERED AND PROFITED FROM THE MISCONDUCT PERPETRATED BY THE DEFENDANT.

POINT THREE

THE DEFENDANT APPELLEE WAS UNJUSTLY ENRICHED

POINT FOUR

AMES DID NOT WAIVE HER QUIET TITLE, WRONGFUL FORECLOSURE, CONVERSION, AND CIVIL CONSPIRACY CAUSES OF ACTION WHEN SHE FAILED TO ENJOIN THE VOID FORECLOSURE SALE BECAUSE THERE WAS NO SALE TO ENJOIN. SHE WAS TOLD IT WAS CANCELLED AND THE APPOINTMENT OF THE TRUSTEE WAS VOID.

POINT FIVE

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS IT WAS PREMATURE AS THE DEFENDANT / APPELLEE HAS FAILED AND REFUSED TO RESPOND TO THE DISCOVERY PROPOUNDED FOR MORE THAN A YEAR.

POINT SIX

THE APPOINTMENT OF THE TRUSTEE BY WELLS FARGO WAS VOID BECAUSE WELLS FARGO HAD ALREADY ASSIGNED ALL THEIR RIGHT TITLE AND INTEREST IN THE NOTE AND MORTGAGE AT THE TIME THEY APPOINTED A SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE.

II. DE NOVO STANDARD ON APPEAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT

De Novo review is proper on Summary Judgment and it is properly granted ONLY when the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions on file demonstrate there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). *Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs.*, 116 Wash.2d 217, 220, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991). Leave to amend a complaint is to be freely given when justice requires. CR 15(a). *Doyle v. Planned Parenthood*, 639 P. 2d 240 - Wash: Court of Appeals, 1st Div. 1982 Civil Rule 15(a).

III. ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE COMPLETE ABSENCE FROM THE JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT FROM THE OUTSET OF THE ASSIGNMENT IN 2011 ENTITLES THE PLAINTIFF TO CLAIM THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WAS TOLLED AT ALL TIMES RELEVANT TO THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

The court found that the statute of limitations was a bar, but did not consider tolling. Because Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR16 is not a registered trust in this state. HSBC is suspended from doing business in this state and only registered here as a foreign entity, New York, then the Defendant has, at all relevant times to this complaint, including while they claimed to be the owner and holder of the subject note and mortgage, were absent from this state. As a result, the RCW 4.16.180

applies tolling the application of any statute of limitation. The court erred in not finding that the statute of limitations was tolled pursuant to statute. The complaint alleges that the Defendant was doing business here unlawfully; (Paragraph 4 of Complaint) and none of them were registered to do business here at any relevant times.

POINT TWO

THE DEFENDANT WAS PAID IN FULL OR PARTIALLY PAID AS A RESULT OF THE CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT AND OTHER SETTLEMENTS BETWEEN THE INVESTORS AND SERVICERS AND **ORIGINATORS** SUCH THAT THE DEFENDANT DOUBLE RECOVERED AND PROFITED FROM THE MISCONDUCT PERPETRATED BY THE DEFENDANT.

Foreclosure is an equitable action. "[C]ontracts tainted by mistake, duress, or even fraud are voidable at the option of the innocent party." *Oubre v. Entergy Operations, Inc.*, 522 U.S. 422, 425 (1998). Here, equity dictates that the Defendant not only profited at the expense of the Plaintiff but was unjustly enriched. The auction never happened as evidenced by the "Trustee's Deed Upon Sale", prepared and recorded by Wells Fargo Bank N.A., 1 Home Campus, Des Moines, IA and signed by Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington on November 27th, 2013 in San Diego County, California. See Document 5035077, recorded on December 3rd, 2013 in Clark County, Washington. Exhibit 7 attached to the complaint. The Trustees Deed Upon Sale was even executed days after the purported auction and in California, not in Clark County, Washington where the auction was cancelled. There was no sale to stop, there was only an unlawful transfer in California orchestrated by the Defendant and the Trustee.

POINT THREE THE DEFENDANT APPELLEE WAS UNJUSTLY ENRICHED

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