FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/27/2020 2:36 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

№. 98110-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 51941-1 II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

LINDA AMES,

Appellant,

VS.

HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION as Trustee for Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-AR16,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Robert A. Bailey, WSBA #28472

Justin T. Jastrzebski, WSBA #46680

ANGLIN FLEWELLING RASMUSSEN CAMPBELL & TRYTTEN LLP

701 Pike Street, Suite 1560

Seattle, Washington 98101-3915

(206) 492-2300, Ext. 3205

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

IV. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Standard of Review

To obtain this Court's review, Ames must show: (1) that the Court of Appeals' Decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) that the Court of Appeals' Decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

Ames' Petition for Review neither mentions nor addresses any of the four grounds implicated by Division II's November 5, 2019, decision. Ames' Petition makes reference to a number of cases from cases within this Court's jurisdiction, and several outside of the State of Washington. However none of the cases cited address the four grounds for Washington State Supreme Court review above. Ames' Petition is simply a regurgitation of arguments previously made in the trial court and then again in her appellate briefing.

Because Division II's decision does not conflict with any issued Supreme Court or appellate court decisions, does not involve either a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest, the Petition for Review should be denied.

B. The Decision Below Is Not In Conflict With Any Decision Of This Court

Of the twenty-six cases cited⁶ in the Petition for Review, twelve are Washington State Supreme Court decisions.

Under Washington law, the security instrument follows the Note. *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.*, 175 Wash.2d 83, 104, 285 P.3d 34, 44 (2012). In *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 196 Wn. App. 813, 385 P.3d 233 (2016) the court explained: "In *Bain*, the supreme court stated in its discussion regarding MERS that the Deeds of Trust Act "contemplates that the security instrument will follow the note, not the other way around." This statement is consistent with well settled law. Commentators have stated that the "transfer of the [note] alone will carry the [deed of trust] along with it." Other commentators have elaborated, stating:

[B]etween the parties to a transfer, the assignment or negotiation of the note itself is all that must be done. It is unnecessary to have any separate document purporting to transfer or assign the mortgage on the real estate, for it will follow the obligation automatically.

. . .

_

⁶ Ames' Table of Authorities lists 20 cases and 1 Law Review Article cited in her Petition. This is not an accurate list of all cases cited; however Respondent addresses all Washington State Court cases cited.

The purported assignment of a nonexistent beneficial interest in Bayand's deed of trust is immaterial.

Bayand, 196 Wash. App. at 843 (2016) (internal citations omitted).

In the trial court, Ames sued to quiet title, free and clear of the Deed of Trust, asserting that the Assignment of the Deed of Trust was invalid because the individual who executed that Assignment lacked capacity to do so. Since HSBC held the note, it was the beneficiary of the Deed of Trust, *regardless* of whether there was any assignment. Division II's decision is not in conflict with any of the above reasoning or rationale. (*Compare*, decision, p. 3, to quotation above.)

Ames also cites to *Brown v. Safeway Stores, Inc.* 94 Wn.2d 359, 617 P. 2d 704 (1980) in her Petition (p. 4), however her actual Petition cites to this Court's Opinion in *Brown v. Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 359

P.3d 771 (2015). In *Brown v. Dep't of Commerce*, the Court held:

We hold a party satisfies the proof of beneficiary provisions RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and RCW 61.24.163(5)(c) when it submits an undisputed declaration under penalty of perjury that it is the actual holder of the promissory note. That party is the beneficiary for the purposes of the mediation exemption provision, RCW 61.24.166, because the note holder is the party entitled to modify and enforce the note.

Brown, 184 Wn.2d at 547 (2015). Division II's decision is not in conflict with any of the above reasoning or rationale either. (*Compare*, decision, p. 3, to quotation above.) The Petition actually supports the above Supreme Court holding that it is the holder that is entitled to enforce the Note. *See Petition* at pg. 24 (citing *Brown* 184 Wn. 2d at 523).

Finally, Ames cites to *Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co.*, 81 Wn.2d 140, 500 P.2d 88, (1972); *Barrie v. Hosts of Am.*, 94 Wn.2d 640, 642, 618 P.2d 96, 97 (1980); *Yakima Fruit & Cold Storage Co. v. Cent. Heating & Plumbing Co.*, 81 Wn.2d 528, 503 P.2d 108 (1972); *Morris v. McNicol*, 83 Wn.2d 491, 519 P.2d 7 (1974); *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982); *Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs.*, 116 Wn.2d 217, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991) for the standard of review on a motion for summary judgment. Ames claims "[t]he evidence was supposed to be construed in light most favorable to the moving party, not to Linda Ames, the nonmoving party." *Petition* at 22. However, Ames entirely misquotes the Supreme Court's recitation of the standard of review on a motion for summary judgment:

The **burden is on the movant** for summary judgment to demonstrate that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be resolved against him. *Welling v. Mount Si Bowl, Inc.*, 79 Wn.2d 485, 487 P.2d 620 (1971). And, where a motion is made for summary judgment, it is the duty of the trial court to **consider all evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the nonmovant**.

Barber, 81 Wn.2d at 142 (1972) (emphasis added). This is the exact opposite of the standard Ames claims to be the rule for granting summary judgment.

Finally, Ames blindly cites to *Plein v. Lackey*, 149 Wn.2d 214, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003) for the position that "[i]t is important to note that the appointment of trustee is invalid and the appointment of the trustee is

fraudulent as alleged in the complaint." *Petition* at p. 22. However, the Court in *Plein* was not asked to determine whether an appointment of successor trustee was valid. The Court's review there dealt primarily with the ability of a borrower to raise a post-foreclosure sale challenge when he fails to invoke the pre-sale remedies available under RCW 61.24.040.

We agree that the waiver rule applied by the Court of Appeals in Country Express Stores, Steward, Koegel and like cases, appropriately effectuates the statutory directive that any objection to the trustee's sale is waived where presale remedies are not pursued. See RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX). Applying the waiver doctrine here: Plein received notice of his right to enjoin the sale, had knowledge of his asserted defense before the sale (that Cameron paid on behalf of Alpen and the debt was extinguished), and failed to obtain a preliminary injunction or other order restraining the sale. We conclude that Plein waived the right to contest the sale.

Plein v. Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214, 229, 67 P.3d 1061, 1067-68 (2003). Division II's decision here is in alignment with the Supreme Court's holding in *Plein*.

Because no conflicts exist between Division II's decision and the Washington State Supreme Court cases cited, the Petition for Review is unsupported.

C. The Decision Below Is Not In Conflict With Any Published Decision Of The Court Of Appeals

Ames cites to eight published decisions from the Court of Appeals, none of which conflict with Division II's decision rendered in this case.

Ames cites to Demelash v. Ross Stores, Inc., 105 Wn. App. 508, 20

P.3d 447 (2001); *Guile v. Ballard Cmty. Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 851 P.2d 689 (1993); and *Rhinehart v. Seattle Times Co.*, 51 Wn. App. 561, 754 P.2d 1243 (1988) to support her various arguments pertaining to discovery obligations and the alleged failure of Respondent to furnish discovery responses.

In her motions to compel, Ames asserted she had not received responses to twelve requests for admission. But she did receive responses denying the admissions, just not the responses she hoped for. The trial court determined that HSBC had responded to her requests for admission. It explained to her that denials are responses, and all responsive documents in HSBC's possession had already been produced to Ames. The trial court subsequently denied her last two motions to compel.

Division II's decision is not in conflict with the published decisions above. "A trial court's decision not to impose discovery sanctions is reviewed for abuse of discretion. A trial court necessarily abuses its discretion if its ruling is based on an erroneous view of the law or on a clearly erroneous assessment of the evidence." *Demelash*, 105 Wn. App. at 530. No specific ruling was made in the Division II decision relating to Ames' motions to compel and alleged failure to produce discovery. However, in light of all of Ames' motions to compel discovery, responses thereto, and hearings on those motions, reviewing the granting of

summary judgment *de novo*, Division II affirmed the trial court's granting summary judgment.

Ames cites to *Walker v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp. of Wash.*, 176 Wn. App. 294, 308 P.3d 716 (2013) for the position that only a lawful beneficiary may appoint a successor trustee who can thereafter issue a notice of trustee's sale. (*Petition* at p. 24). The Division II decision however does not conflict with Division I's decision in *Walker*, both of which rely on the same holding cited in *Bain, supra*.

Finally, Ames cites to four cases⁷ related to her "unjust enrichment" (*Petition*, p. 17) and "leave to amend" (*Petition*, p. 15) claims. Neither of these claims was raised in the trial court or the court of appeals, and review is therefore barred under RAP 2.4.

Furthermore, Ames only cites to *Bailie Commc'ns*, *Lynch*, and *Young* for the elements of proving "unjust enrichment." Because the Division II decision does not address an issue that was not raised on appeal, there is no conflict with any published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Finally, Ames' citation to *Doyle* does not conflict with Division II's decision:

Leave to amend a complaint is to be freely given when justice requires. CR 15(a). The motion must be in writing and state with particularity the grounds therefor. CR 7(b). When a motion to

-16-

⁷ Bailie Commc'ns v. Trend Bus. Sys., 61 Wn. App. 151, 810 P.2d 12 (1991); Lynch v. Deaconess Med. Ctr., 113 Wn.2d 162, 776 P.2d 681 (1989) Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008); and Doyle v. Planned Parenthood of Seattle-King Cty., 31 Wn. App. 126, 130-31, 639 P.2d 240, 242 (1982)

amend is made after the adverse granting of summary judgment, the normal course of proceedings is disrupted and the trial court should consider whether the motion could have been timely made earlier in the litigation. *Trust Fund Servs. v. Glasscar, Inc.*, 19 Wn. App. 736, 577 P.2d 980 (1978); 3A Wash. Prac. § 5182 (3d ed. 1980).

Doyle v. Planned Parenthood of Seattle-King Cty., 31 Wn. App. 126, 130-31, 639 P.2d 240, 242 (1982) (emphasis added). Division II's decision affirming the trial court's denial of Ames motion to amend filed after the summary judgment hearing, but before the trial court rendered its decision in favor of HSBC, was appropriate and in not in conflict with the court's holding in *Doyle*. Amendment at that stage would disrupt the normal course of proceedings and Ames' motion could have been timely made earlier in the litigation.

Because no conflicts exist between Division II's decision and the Published Decisions of the Court of Appeals cited, the Petition for Review is unsupported.

D. The Decision Below Does Not Create A Significant Question Of Law Under Either The Constitution of Washington State Or The United States Constitution

Ames' Petition is devoid of any significant questions of law under either the United States Constitution or the Washington State Constitution. Furthermore, she never raised a constitutionality claim in either the trial court or Division II, and accordingly those claims are barred under RAP 2.5(a). That rule's exception for manifest error affecting a constitutional

right does not assist Ames:

Because RAP 2.5(a)(3) is an exception to the general rule that parties cannot raise new arguments on appeal, we construe the exception narrowly by requiring the asserted error to be (1) manifest and (2) "'truly of constitutional magnitude'." ... The policy behind RAP 2.5(a)(3) is simply this: Appellate courts will not waste their judicial resources to render definitive rulings on newly raised constitutional claims when those claims have no chance of succeeding on the merits.

State v. WWJ Corp., 138 Wn.2d 595, 602-03, 980 P.2d 1257, 1261 (1999) (citations omitted). Given the established law that summary judgment does not infringe on a litigant's jury trial right, any claimed error Ames may argue is neither manifest nor of true constitutional magnitude; accordingly, it is barred by RAP 2.5(a).

E. The Petition Does Not Involve An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest That Should Be Determined By This Court.

In determining whether a matter, though moot, is of continuing and substantial public interest and thus reviewable, this Court considers: (1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur. *In re Cross*, 99 Wn.2d 373, 377, 662 P.2d 828 (1983) (citing, *Sorenson v. Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d at 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972)). "Arguably a fourth factor exists, that being the level of genuine adverseness and the quality of advocacy of the issues." *Hart v. Dep't. of Soc. & Health Servs.*, Ill Wn.2d 445, 447, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988) (citations omitted).

As explained by the Hart court:

The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, ...; the validity and interpretation of statutes and regulations, and matters deemed sufficiently important by the appellate court,

...

Most of the public interest exception cases fall into the first two categories as they tend to present issues which are more public in nature and are more likely to arise again. Further, decisions involving the constitution and statutes generally help to guide public officials. The public interest exception has not been used in statutory or regulatory cases that are limited on their facts, ..., or involve statutes or regulations that have been amended.

The third category includes cases taken by the appellate courts within their discretion because of the importance of the issues involved [such as] ...case involving definition of death; ... public campaign financing and election limit ordinance in Seattle; ... Seattle's building and zoning ordinances; ... negligence of a third party supplying liquor to a minor; ... large development project and Environmental Impact Statement requirements; [and] ... referendum to repeal city ordinance.

Id., at 449-50 (citations omitted).

The issues noted for review satisfy none of the three substantial public interest standards. First, foreclosure of a secured property interest due to loan default is a private matter limited to the contracting parties. Division II's decision did not add to or expand on the developing body of foreclosure law.

Second, there is no issue requiring an authoritative determination to provide future guidance to public officers. Non-judicial foreclosures have been prosecuted for at least a century in Washington State, and no statutory interpretations pertaining to the construction of the non-judicial

foreclosure statutes were argued or contested in the trial or appellate courts.

Finally, although non-judicial foreclosures and summary judgments are likely to recur, a Supreme Court decision in this case is unlikely to affect any such future proceedings. The underlying rulings were limited to the specific facts of this case, and they do not expand the law of either non-judicial foreclosures or summary judgments.

Because no issue of substantial public interest has been identified or exists, the Petition for Review is unsupported.

V. CONCLUSION

After the moving party shows the absence of material facts, the summary judgment inquiry shifts to the party with the burden of proof at trial. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). If the non-moving party then fails to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*, at 225; *Sun Mountain Productions, Inc.* v. *Pierre*, 84 Wn.App. 608, 616, 929 P.2d 494 (1997).

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